Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: September 1, 2019 ACCEPTED: October 6, 2019 PUBLISHED: October 31, 2019

Loop corrected soft photon theorem as a Ward identity

Miguel Campiglia^{*a*} and Alok Laddha^{*b*}

^a Instituto de Física, Facultad de Ciencias, Iguá 4225, Montevideo, Uruguay
^b Chennai Mathematical Institute, SIPCOT IT Park, Siruseri 603103, India

E-mail: campi@fisica.edu.uy, aladdha@cmi.ac.in

ABSTRACT: Recently Sahoo and Sen obtained a series of remarkable results concerning subleading soft photon and graviton theorems in four dimensions. Even though the S-matrix is infrared divergent, they have shown that the subleading soft theorems are well defined and exact statements in QED and perturbative Quantum Gravity. However unlike the well studied Cachazo-Strominger soft theorems in tree-level amplitudes, the new subleading soft expansion is at the order $\ln \omega$ (where ω is the soft frequency) and the corresponding soft factors structurally show completely different properties then their tree-level counterparts. Whence it is natural to ask if these theorems are associated to asymptotic symmetries of the S-matrix.

We consider this question in the context of sub-leading soft photon theorem in scalar QED and show that there are indeed an infinity of conservation laws whose Ward identities are equivalent to the loop-corrected soft photon theorem. This shows that in the case of four dimensional QED, the leading and sub-leading soft photon theorems are equivalent to Ward identities of (asymptotic) charges.

KEYWORDS: Gauge Symmetry, Global Symmetries, Scattering Amplitudes

ARXIV EPRINT: 1903.09133



Contents

...

1	Introduction	1
2	Anatomy of fall-offs and asymptotic charges	3
3	Asymptotics of classical electrodynamics at time and null infinities	4
	3.1 Fall-offs at time-infinity	4
	3.2 $O(e)$ fall-offs at time and null infinities	6
	3.3 Fall-offs at null infinity	8
4	Revisiting the subleading charges of QED with massive particles	9
	4.1 Subleading charge	9
	4.2 Ward identities and tree level soft theorem	12
5	Defining $Q[V]$ with general fall-offs	13
	5.1 Deriving $Q_{\text{hom}}^{\text{hard}}[V]$ from infra-red dressing	17
	5.2 Quantization of the hard charge	20
6	Ward identity and Sahoo-Sen subleading theorem	22
7	Conclusion and open questions	24
\mathbf{A}	Green's functions	26
	A.1 Log-corrected fields	27
	A.2 Eq. (3.38)	28

1 Introduction

In last few years there has been remarkable progress in our understanding of the symmetry structure of gauge theories and gravity. This understanding is based on Strominger's key insight that soft theorems in these theories are manifestations of Ward identities of so-called asymptotic symmetries. For theorems like Weinberg soft graviton theorem, this relationship implies that BMS group is an exact symmetry of the (perturbative) Gravitational S-matrix in four dimensions. However in four spacetime dimensions, the issue is more subtle when it comes to sub-leading soft theorems. This is because sub-leading soft theorems in QED or in gravity are sensitive to the infrared structure of the S-matrix unlike the leading soft theorems. In fact in [1] it was shown that sub-leading soft theorems in Gauge theories and Gravity are infrared divergent. In this analysis it was assumed that the soft expansion was a power series in ω and infrared modifications were then derived for the soft factors in dimensional regularisation. In [2] Such modifications to the soft factors were beautifully

understood in terms of Ward identities. That is, it was shown that the same asymptotic symmetries whose charges gave rise to tree-level soft theorems gave rise to infrared modified soft theorems due to a change in the Asymptotic charges at loop level.

In the seminal work [4], Sahoo and Sen have shown that if we do not insist on the power series expansion in soft frequency, then, in four spacetime dimensions the subleading soft theorems in QED and gravity have a markedly different structure to the corresponding theorems in tree-level amplitudes. More in detail, it is by now well understood that tree level S-matrix has a soft expansion which is a Laurent series in the soft frequency ω . In fact, understanding of such tree-level soft theorems as Ward identities associated to (Spontaneously broken) Asymptotic symmetries have been investigated in a large number of recent works (see [5] and [6] for recent reviews). Sahoo and Sen have shown that once loop corrections are taken into account, the situation changes rather drastically and the soft expansion goes as $\frac{1}{\omega}S^{(0)} + \ln \omega S^{(1)} + \cdots$. In particular, in scalar QED, the soft theorem is given by

$$\mathcal{M}_{n+1}(p_1,\ldots,p_n,k) = \left[\frac{1}{\omega} S^{(0)} + \ln\omega S^{(\ln)}\right] \mathcal{M}_n(p_1,\ldots,p_n) + \cdots$$
(1.1)

where $S^{(0)}$ is the Weinberg soft factor and the loop-corrected soft factor $S^{(\ln)}$ is given by

$$S^{(\ln)} = \sum_{a,b} f_1(p_a, p_b) + f_2(p_a, p_b)$$
(1.2)

with

$$f_1(p_a, p_b) = \frac{-i}{4\pi} q_a^2 q_b m_a^2 m_b^2 \frac{\epsilon_\mu (p_a^\mu p_b^\rho - p_a^\rho p_b^\mu) k_\rho}{[(p_a \cdot p_b)^2 - m_a^2 m_b^2]^{\frac{3}{2}}}$$
 if both (a, b) are in-coming or outgoing

=0 otherwise,

(1.3)

where ϵ^{μ} is the polarization of the soft photon with momentum k. In [4], the authors referred to $\sum_{a,b} f_1(p_a, p_b)$ as classical soft factor since the $\ln \omega$ term in the soft expansion of classical electromagnetic radiation is dictated by this factor.

If the infinite dimensional asymptotic symmetries are symmetries of perturbative QED as opposed to tree-level S matrix, then it must be so that the logarithmic sub-leading soft photon theorem is equivalent to the corresponding Ward identities. In this paper, we take a first step towards understanding such symmetries in the Quantum (as opposed to treelevel) regime. Namely, we show that even in perturbative QED beyond tree-level there exist an infinite number of charges (that we refer to as sub-leading charges) which are conserved in the sense that the charge at the asymptotic past equals the charge at the asymptotic future. Even though the structure of log-corrected sub-leading soft photon theorem is rather involved, rather remarkably it turns out the Ward identities associated to the quantized sub-leading charges are equivalent to the sub-leding soft photon theorem. This is our main result. We also show that the entire formalism (although not aimed to cure infra-red divergences of the S matrix) is such that the sub-leading charges have a rather direct relationship with Kulish-Faddeev dressing of charged states.

The plan of the paper is as follows. We first show that the subleading soft photon theorem in tree-level scattering amplitudes in scalar QED is equivalent to Ward identities associated to symmetries which are parametrized by vector fields on S^2 . We then show that the asymptotic charges associated to these symmetries get corrected at loop level and derive the charges. As is always the case, this charge is a sum of a so-called soft charge and a hard charge which depends on the three point coupling of matter with the asymptotic gauge field. Unlike the tree-level soft charge, the soft charge in the present case is such that it isolates the ln ω frequency mode in the soft expansion. We show how the Ward identities associated to these charges are equivalent to the subleading soft photon theorem derived by Sahoo and Sen. As these theorems are 1-loop exact, our analysis reveals that there is an infinity of conserved charges in perturbative scalar QED, one of which generate large U(1) gauge transformation and the other parametrized by vector fields on the celestial sphere.

2 Anatomy of fall-offs and asymptotic charges

The essential steps in which we are led to different Asymptotic conditions for gauge fields and matter currents are summarized below. Our summary here is brief and necessarily qualitative as we would like to give a coherent picture of the Asymptotics at time-like and Null infinity. Details of the structure presented below are in the main body of the paper.

- We start with the basic observation that Coulombic modes of scalar potential A_{τ} decay as $\frac{1}{\tau}$ at late times. (Here τ parametrizes asymptotic proper time along time-like geodesics.)
- Due to this slowly decaying Coulombic mode, Asymptotic behaviour of scalar field at late times is modified such that the spatial matter current components decay as ln τ/τ³.
- This logarithmic decay of current components implies that the Maxwell fields (e.g. Electric field) decays as $\frac{1}{\tau}\vec{A}(y) + \frac{\ln \tau}{\tau^2}\vec{B}(y)$ at large τ with y being the co-ordinates on fixed time slice.
- The behaviour of Maxwell fields near time-like infinity can be used to determine the fall-off conditions of these fields in the future of Null infinity. In particular, the above mentioned late time decay of Maxwell fields, along with Maxwell's equations can be

used to determine $|u| \to \infty$ behaviour of the radiative data $A_A(u, \hat{x})$ at Null infinity and is given by $\stackrel{0}{A}_A + \frac{1}{|u|} \stackrel{1}{A}_A$.

- The above fall-off of radiative data at large u implies that in addition to infinity of leading charges, one has an infinity of non-trivial "sub-leading" charges which are defined at $u = -\infty$ in terms of $\stackrel{1}{A}_{A}(\hat{x})$.
- We then show that similar sub-leading charges are also non-trivial at $v = +\infty$ on the boundary of past Null infinity and in fact the equations of motion of the theory at spatial infinity imply that these two sets of charges are equal, leading to new set of conservation laws.

3 Asymptotics of classical electrodynamics at time and null infinities

3.1 Fall-offs at time-infinity

Massive charged fields decay very rapidly $(O(\frac{1}{r^{\infty}}))$ at null infinity [8] and hence their asymptotic modes are best described by analysing their behaviour at time-like infinity. Details of this construction were given in [9] and here we summarise the key aspects of the construction.

In the usual conformal compactification scheme of Penrose, future and past time-like infinities i^{\pm} are points and as such they are ill suited to understand late time decay of massive fields. A better arena for this purpose is "a blow up of i^{\pm} " which is a three dimensional space-like hyperboloid.

This hyperboloid picture is manifest in the following coordinates adapted to time infinity,

$$\tau := \sqrt{t^2 - r^2}, \quad \rho := \frac{r}{\sqrt{t^2 - r^2}}$$
(3.1)

in terms of which the Minkowski line element takes the form

$$ds^2 = -d\tau^2 + \tau^2 h_{\alpha\beta} dy^{\alpha} dy^{\beta} \tag{3.2}$$

where $y^{\alpha} = (\rho, x^A)$ are coordinates on the 'time-infinity' hyperboloid with metric

$$h_{\alpha\beta}dy^{\alpha}dy^{\beta} = \frac{d\rho^2}{1+\rho^2} + \rho^2\gamma_{AB}dx^Adx^B, \qquad (3.3)$$

and γ_{AB} the unit-sphere metric. We will denote by

$$Y^{\mu} = (\sqrt{1+\rho^2}, \rho \hat{x})$$
(3.4)

the unit vector on Minkowski space parametrized by y^{α} . A spacetime point x^{μ} in hyperbolic coordinates is then written as

$$x^{\mu} = \tau Y^{\mu} \,. \tag{3.5}$$

For concreteness we will focus on future time infinity but similar considerations apply to past time infinity.

In Lorenz gauge, the fall-offs of Maxwell fields (sourced by massive charged matter) at time-like infinity are given by¹

$$\mathcal{A}_{\tau} = \frac{1}{\tau} A_{\tau} + \cdots$$
 (3.6)

$$\mathcal{A}_{\alpha} = A_{\alpha} + \cdots, \qquad (3.7)$$

where the dots denotes terms that are subleading when $\tau \to \infty$. In [9] it was shown that these fall-offs imply that the $\tau \to \infty$ asymptotics of the scalar field φ has a $\ln \tau$ phase relative to the free field expression, i.e. the solution to the field equations of a charged scalar field coupled to the Maxwell field has the following fall-off at future time-like infinity i^+ ,

$$\varphi(\tau, y) \stackrel{\tau \to \infty}{=} e^{ie\ln \tau A_{\tau}(y)} \varphi_{\text{free}}(\tau, y) \tag{3.8}$$

where the free field admits the expansion

$$\varphi_{\text{free}}(\tau, y) = \frac{\sqrt{m}}{2(2\pi\tau)^{3/2}} \left(b(y)e^{-i\tau m} + c^*(y)e^{i\tau m} \right) + \cdots .$$
(3.9)

As we shall discuss in section 5.1, in quantum theory the asymptotics (3.8) corresponds to the Kulish-Faddeev asymptotics of quantum charged fields [10]. As is common in the literature, we call the logarithmic phase the "dressing", and refer to the field (3.8) as the "dressed field".

The asymptotic form of the dressed field implies the following $\tau \to \infty$ fall-offs for the matter current,

$$j_{\tau}(\tau, y) = \frac{1}{\tau^3} j_{\tau}(y) + \frac{\ln \tau}{\tau^4} j_{\tau}(y) + \frac{1}{\tau^4} j_{\tau}(y)$$
(3.10)

$$j_{\alpha}(\tau, y) = \frac{\ln \tau}{\tau^3} j_{\alpha}(y) + \frac{1}{\tau^3} j_{\alpha}(y) + \dots$$
 (3.11)

These in turn dictate the asymptotic fall-offs of F_{ab} at time-like infinity. The $\tau \to \infty$ asymptotic expansion compatible with (3.6) and (3.10) is found to be given by

$$F_{\tau\alpha}(\tau, y) = \frac{1}{\tau} \frac{0}{F_{\tau\alpha}}(y) + \frac{\ln \tau}{\tau^2} F_{\tau\alpha}(y) + \dots$$
(3.12)

$$F_{\alpha\beta}(\tau, y) = \overset{0}{F}_{\alpha\beta}(y) + \frac{\ln \tau}{\tau} \overset{1n}{F}_{\alpha\beta}(y) + \dots$$
(3.13)

We can now solve Maxwell equations at each order in the $\frac{1}{\tau}$ and $\frac{\ln \tau}{\tau}$ expansion. It is straightforward to check that for the leading components $\overset{0}{F}_{ab}$ we get equations which are independent of the $\ln \tau$ terms in the current,

$$\mathcal{D}^{\alpha} \overset{0}{F}_{\tau\alpha} = \overset{0}{j}_{\tau}$$
$$\mathcal{D}^{\beta} \overset{0}{F}_{\alpha\beta} = 0, \qquad (3.14)$$

¹The $1/\tau$ fall-off of the scalar potential \mathcal{A}_{τ} is a Coulomb effect and can be deduced from the fact that when sourced by massive particles with asymptotic constant velocities, the $\frac{1}{r}$ potential decays as $1/t \sim 1/\tau$. See e.g. [10].

where \mathcal{D}_{α} is the covariant derivative on the hyperboloid. For the $\overset{\ln}{F}_{ab}$ terms Maxwell equations take the form

$$\partial_{[\alpha} \overset{\text{ln}}{F}_{\beta\gamma]} = 0, \quad \partial_{\alpha} \overset{\text{ln}}{F}_{\tau\beta} - \partial_{\beta} \overset{\text{ln}}{F}_{\tau\alpha} + \overset{\text{ln}}{F}_{\alpha\beta} = 0, \quad \mathcal{D}^{\alpha} \overset{\text{ln}}{F}_{\tau\alpha} = \overset{\text{ln}}{j}_{\tau}, \quad \mathcal{D}^{\beta} \overset{\text{ln}}{F}_{\alpha\beta} - \overset{\text{ln}}{F}_{\tau\alpha} = \overset{\text{ln}}{j}_{\alpha} \quad (3.15)$$

whereas current conservation $\nabla^a j_a = 0$ implies

$${}^{\ln}_{j_{\tau}}(y) + \mathcal{D}^{\alpha}{}^{\ln}_{j_{\alpha}}(y) = 0.$$
(3.16)

Using the above equations it can be shown that $\overset{\ln}{F}_{\tau\alpha}$ is determined in terms of the ln-currents as

$$\left[\mathcal{D}^2 + 1\right] \overset{\ln}{F}_{\tau\alpha} = \overset{\ln}{j}_{\alpha} + \mathcal{D}_{\alpha} \overset{\ln}{j}_{\tau}. \tag{3.17}$$

We now note that all the terms proportional to $\ln \tau$ in the matter current arise due to the $\ln \tau$ term of the asymptotic matter field. In an expansion in the coupling constant e, these terms are necessarily higher order as compared to the leading order current. Whence if we are also interested in the expansion in the coupling constant, then at leading order in the coupling we can ignore the log terms and all the components of the currents admit a power-law fall off. As we will see in section 4, these "O(e) fall-offs" lead to the conserved asymptotic charges associated with Low's soft photon theorem in tree-level amplitudes.

3.2 O(e) fall-offs at time and null infinities

At O(e) in the coupling constant, the current can be computed from the free scalar field with no dressing accompanying it. In this case we have

$$j_{\tau}(\tau, y) = \frac{1}{\tau^3} j_{\tau}(y) + \frac{1}{\tau^4} j_{\tau}(y) + \cdots$$
(3.18)

$$j_{\alpha}(\tau, y) = \frac{1}{\tau^3} j_{\alpha}(y) + \frac{1}{\tau^4} j_{\alpha}(y) + \cdots$$
 (3.19)

where as before, y denotes a point on the time-infinity hyperboloid.

Such power-law fall-offs for the current imply the field F_{ab} also falls off as a Laurent series in $\frac{1}{\tau}$ obtained by setting all the log terms in eq. (3.12) to zero:

$$F_{\tau\alpha}(\tau, y) = \frac{1}{\tau} {}^{0}F_{\tau\alpha}(y) + \frac{1}{\tau^2} {}^{1}F_{\tau\alpha}(y) + \cdots$$
(3.20)

$$F_{\alpha\beta}(\tau, y) = \overset{0}{F}_{\alpha\beta}(y) + \frac{1}{\tau} \overset{1}{F}_{\alpha\beta}(y) + \cdots .$$
(3.21)

Maxwell's equations and Bianchi identities once again determine $\overset{n}{F}_{ab}$ in terms of matter currents $\overset{n}{j_a}$. In particular, the subleading field $\overset{1}{F}_{\tau\alpha}$ satisfies [11]

$$\left[\mathcal{D}^{2} + 1\right] \overset{1}{F}_{\tau\alpha} = \overset{0}{j}_{\alpha} + \mathcal{D}_{\alpha}^{1} \overset{1}{j}_{\tau}, \qquad (3.22)$$

where

$$\overset{1}{j}_{\tau} = -\mathcal{D}^{\alpha} \overset{0}{j}_{\alpha} \tag{3.23}$$

from current conservation. These equations imply that the $\rho \to \infty$ behavior of the \bar{F}_{ab} fields is given by (see appendix A)

$${}^{1}_{F_{\tau A}}(\rho, \hat{x}) = \rho^{-1} {}^{1,0}_{F_{\tau A}}(\hat{x}) + \cdots$$
(3.24)

$${}^{1}F_{\tau\rho}(\rho,\hat{x}) = \rho^{-4}{}^{1,0}F_{\tau\rho}(\hat{x}) + \cdots$$
 (3.25)

with

$$-\overset{1,0}{F}_{\tau\rho} + D^{A}\overset{1,0}{F}_{\tau A} = 0, \qquad (3.26)$$

where we assumed that $\overset{1}{j}_{\tau}(\rho, \hat{x})$ and $\overset{1}{j}_{\alpha}(\rho, \hat{x})$ vanish sufficiently fast for $\rho \to \infty$ so that we can use the free field equations in this limit.

We now discuss what these fall-offs imply at null-infinity. As we shall see, the asymptotic behaviour of the fields from the perspective of time-like infinity dovetails perfectly with the "tree-level" fall-offs of radiative fields at future null infinity \mathcal{I}^+ discussed in [11].

Recall that near future null-infinity, Maxwell fields are expanded in inverse powers of r, with the coefficients of the expansion being functions of retarded time u = t - r. For instance,

$$\mathcal{F}_{rA}(r, u, \hat{x}) = \frac{1}{r^2} \overset{0}{F}_{rA}(u, \hat{x}) + O(1/r^3).$$
(3.27)

Maxwell equations can then be solved recursively in terms of the 'free data' $A_A(u, \hat{x})$, the transverse gauge potential at \mathcal{I}^+ .

In [11] it was shown that corresponding to the tree-level soft expansion of the photon field, the free data at \mathcal{I}^+ has $u \to \pm \infty$ fall-offs such that $\partial_u A_A(u, \hat{x})$ decays faster than any power of 1/u,

$$A_A(u, \hat{x}) \stackrel{|u| \to \infty}{=} O(1) + O(1/|u|^\infty).$$
 (3.28)

This in turn determines the $u \to \infty$ fall-offs for $\overset{0}{F}_{ab}(u,\hat{x})$, $\overset{1}{F}_{ab}(u,\hat{x})$, etc. For instance, using the leading Maxwell equations $\nabla^b F_{ub} = 0$, $\nabla^b F_{Ab} = 0$:

$$\partial_u \overset{0}{F}_{ru} + \partial_u D^A A_A = 0 \tag{3.29}$$

$$\partial_u F_{rA}^0 + \frac{1}{2} D_A F_{ru}^0 - D^B D_{[A} A_{B]} = 0$$
(3.30)

one can easily show that (3.28) implies

$${}^{0}_{F_{rA}(u,\hat{x})} \stackrel{u \to \pm \infty}{=} u {}^{0,0}_{F^{\pm}_{rA}(\hat{x})} + {}^{0,1}_{F^{\pm}_{rA}(\hat{x})} + O(1/u^{\infty})$$
(3.31)

where the coefficients appear as 'integration constants' when solving the field equations.

Now, the celestial sphere on \mathcal{I}^+ at $u = \infty$ can be thought of as the $\rho \to \infty$ boundary of the asymptotic hyperboloid at $\tau = \infty$. In particular, given the asymptotic expansion at large τ we can derive corresponding $u \to \infty$ fall-offs at null infinity. Using an analysis exactly analogous to the one in [11]² it can be shown that the O(e) fall-offs given in (3.20)

²There the analysis related fields at the (future) boundary of spatial infinity with fields at $u = -\infty$.

imply the fall-offs (3.31) at null infinity. Furthermore, the 'integration constants' in (3.31) are determined in terms of the asymptotic fields at time-like infinity. In particular one finds

$${}^{0,1}_{F^+{}_{rA}(\hat{x})} = {}^{1,0}_{F_{\tau A}(\hat{x})}, \qquad (3.32)$$

where $\overset{1,0}{F}_{\tau A}(\hat{x})$ is the leading $\rho \to \infty$ coefficient of $\overset{1}{F}_{\tau A}(y)$ as defined in eq. (3.24).

3.3 Fall-offs at null infinity

As we saw in the previous subsection, ignoring logarithmic terms (which were higher order in the coupling constant) in the matter fields was tantamount to considering the O(e)expansion of radiative fields at null infinity. We now consider the full $\tau \to \infty$ asymptotics including logarithmic terms, and study its implications at null-infinity.

We again focus on F_{rA} . Starting from the fall-offs at time-infinity (3.12), and changing coordinates from (τ, ρ) to (r, u) one finds

$$\mathcal{F}_{rA} = \frac{\ln r}{r^2} F_{rA} + \frac{1}{r^2} F_{rA} + \dots$$
(3.33)

with $\overset{\ln}{F}_{rA} \overset{u \to \infty}{=} O(u^0)$ and

$${}^{0}_{F_{rA}(u,\hat{x})} \stackrel{u \to \infty}{=} u {}^{0,0}_{F^{+}_{rA}(\hat{x})} + \ln u {}^{0,\ln}_{F^{+}_{rA}(\hat{x})} + O(u^{0}).$$
(3.34)

There are thus two modifications from the previous asymptotics: (1) a $\ln r/r^2$ term in \mathcal{F}_{rA} and (2) a $\ln u$ term in $\stackrel{0}{F}_{rA}$. The first modification does not play much of a role: the field equations at null infinity imply this term is *u*-independent,

$$\partial_u F_{rA} = 0, \tag{3.35}$$

The second modification can be understood as a change in the $u \to \infty$ fall-offs of the free data $A_A(u, \hat{x})$, from (3.28) to

$$A_A(u, \hat{x}) \stackrel{u \to \infty}{=} O(1) + O(1/u) + \cdots$$
 (3.36)

The appearance of a O(1/u) 'tail' is in agreement with the expected asymptotics of radiated fields due to classical scattering particles [3], which in turn corresponds to a ln ω subleading term in the low frequency expansion [4]. Thus, the null-infinity asymptotics $(u \rightarrow \infty)$ that we find may be thought of as giving "loop-corrected" fall-offs.

In fact, one can argue that $A_A(u, \hat{x})$ obeys the same fall-offs as $u \to -\infty$. This is because, in a generic (classical) scattering, charged particles accelerate under Coulombic drag in the infinite past as well. Due to this, early time radiation (in (u, r, \hat{x}) co-ordinates) has the same asymptotics as late time radiation. We thus see that eq. (3.36) can be extended to

$$A_A(u, \hat{x}) \stackrel{u \to -\infty}{=} O(1) + O(1/u) + \cdots$$
 (3.37)

We also note that the coefficient F^+_{rA} in (3.34) is not an integration constant at $u = +\infty$ and hence can not be easily determined in terms of the asymptotic fields at time-infinity. In appendix A.2 we show that using matter currents at time-infinity this mode can be written as

$$F^{+}{}_{rA}(\hat{x}) = \frac{1}{8\pi} \int d^3y \ (-q \cdot Y)^{-3} L^{\mu\nu}_A(\hat{x}) \ J^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}(y) \ \overset{\ln}{j}{}_{\alpha}(y)$$
(3.38)

where $q^{\mu} = (1, \hat{x})$ and $J^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$ and $L^{\mu\nu}_{A}$ are angular momentum components defined at the asymptotic hyperboloid and celestial sphere respectively. See appendix A.2 for details.

4 Revisiting the subleading charges of QED with massive particles

In [13] it was shown that the subleading soft photon theorem was equivalent to a new class of infinite-dimensional symmetries parametrized by vector fields on the sphere. However this analysis was restricted to tree-level scattering amplitudes. Moreover the charged particles were assumed to be massless. The generalization to massive particles was given recently in [14]. In this section we review the construction of these "subleading" charges in the presence of massive particles. Our discussion will be along the lines of [11].

The interest in the massive case is more then a mere technical complication as the loopcorrected $\log \omega$ subleading soft photon theorem trivializes for massless charged particles [4]. Whence to understand the loop corrected soft theorem as Ward identities it is useful to first consider the tree-level case with massive charged particles.

4.1 Subleading charge

Assuming the O(e) fall-offs (3.28), the (future) subleading charge defined in [13] can be written as $[11]^3$

$$Q[V] = \int_{\mathcal{I}_{-}^{+}} d^2 \hat{x} V^A(\hat{x}) F^-{}_{rA}(\hat{x})$$
(4.1)

where \mathcal{I}_{-}^{+} denotes the $u = -\infty$ sphere at future null infinity, $V^{A}(\hat{x})$ is the vector field parametrizing the charge, and $F^{-}{}_{rA}(\hat{x})$ is the $O(u^{0})$ coefficient of $\overset{0}{F}_{rA}(u,\hat{x})$ at $u \to -\infty$, given in eq. (3.31).

Analogous charge is defined at \mathcal{I}^-_+ (the $v = +\infty$ sphere at past null infinity) such that their equality is equivalent to the subleading soft photon theorem [13]. In [11] this equality was shown to be a consequence of field equations at spatial infinity under the assumption of O(e) fall-offs (3.28) on both past and future null infinities.

The analysis of [11] was for the case of massless charged particles and whence the matter contribution to the charge defined above was localised at null infinity. In this

³In [11, 15] the charge is parametrized in terms of two scalars that smear the $O(u^0)$ coefficients of $\overset{1}{F}_{ru}$ and its Hodge-dual $\overset{1}{\tilde{F}}_{ru}$. The 'purely electric' charge can be interpreted in terms of O(r) large gauge transformations. The two descriptions are related through Maxwell equations: $\overset{1}{F}_{ru} = -D^A \overset{0}{F}_{rA}, \overset{1}{\tilde{F}}_{ru} = \epsilon^{AB} D_A \overset{0}{F}_{rB}$.

section we generalise this derivation to our case of interest where the charged particles are massive. This will illustrate how tree-level (subleading) soft theorem is manifestation of Ward identities associated to the subleading charges defined in (4.1).

Hence, we want to write the charge Q[V] as a sum of a soft charge and a hard charge, as in [13]. As the scattering particles are massive, we know that the hard charge will be localised at time-like infinity (i.e. at $u = \infty$) and the soft charge will be a flux at null infinity. More in detail, we aim to rewrite Q[V] as

$$Q[V] = Q^{\text{hard}}[V] + Q^{\text{soft}}[V]$$

$$(4.2)$$

where $Q^{\text{hard}}[V]$ is integrated over the sphere at $u = \infty$ and $Q^{\text{soft}}[V]$ is the soft charge integrated over \mathcal{I}^+ . From Maxwell equations at null infinity (3.30) one finds [13]

$${}^{0,1}_{F^{-}_{rA}(\hat{x})} = \lim_{u \to -\infty} \left[{}^{0}_{F_{rA}(u,\hat{x})} + u \left(\frac{1}{2} D_{A} {}^{0}_{F_{ru}(u,\hat{x})} - D^{B} D_{[A} A_{B]}(u,x) \right) \right].$$
(4.3)

The above expression can be trivially re-written as

$${}^{0,1}_{F^-_{rA}(\hat{x})} = \lim_{u \to +\infty} [\cdots] - \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \partial_u [\cdots]$$

$$(4.4)$$

where " $[\cdots]$ " denotes the expression in square brackets in (4.3). The first term is just the $O(u^0)$ coefficient of $\overset{0}{F}_{rA}$ at $u \to \infty$:

$$\lim_{u \to +\infty} [\cdots] = \overset{0,1}{F^+}{}_{rA}(\hat{x}).$$
(4.5)

This yields the hard charge.

Using Maxwell equations (3.30), the integrand in the second term can be written as

$$-\partial_u[\cdots] = u\partial_u \left(\frac{1}{2}D_A D^B A_B + D^B D_{[A} A_{B]}\right).$$
(4.6)

The expression can be further simplified if written in terms of stereographic coordinates (z, \overline{z}) . For A = z it reduces to

$$-\partial_u[\cdots] = u\partial_u D_z D^{\bar{z}} A_{\bar{z}} \,. \tag{4.7}$$

Summarizing, the charge (4.1) can be written as

$$Q[V] = Q^{\text{hard}}[V] + Q^{\text{soft}}[V]$$
(4.8)

where

$$Q^{\text{hard}}[V] = \int_{\mathcal{I}^+_+} d^2 \hat{x} \, V^A F^+_{rA} \tag{4.9}$$

$$Q^{\text{soft}}[V] = \int_{\mathcal{I}^+} d^2 \hat{x} du \, V^z u \, \partial_u D_z D^{\bar{z}} A_{\bar{z}} + (z \leftrightarrow \bar{z}) \,. \tag{4.10}$$

We finally would like to express (4.9) as an integral over i^+ involving the current. For this we use eq. (3.32) and Maxwell's equation to express $\overset{1}{F}_{\tau A}$ in terms of the matter current as follows.

Let $\mathcal{G}^{\beta}_{\alpha}(y; y')$ be the Green's function for the Poisson-type equation (3.22),

$${}^{1}_{F_{\tau\alpha}}(y) = \int d^{3}y' \mathcal{G}^{\beta}_{\alpha}(y;y') {}^{0}_{j\beta}(y')$$
(4.11)

and let $G^{\beta}_{A}(y'; \hat{x})$ be its leading $\rho \to \infty$ asymptotic value,

$$\mathcal{G}_{A}^{\beta}(\rho,\hat{x};y') \stackrel{\rho \to \infty}{=} \rho^{-1} G_{A}^{\beta}(y';\hat{x}) + \dots$$
(4.12)

Then $\stackrel{1,0}{F}_{\tau A}$ can be written as

$${}^{1,0}_{F_{\tau A}}(\hat{x}) = \int d^3 y' {}^0_{\beta}(y') G^{\beta}_A(y'; \hat{x}).$$
(4.13)

We now use G_A^β as a 'boundary to bulk' Green's function for V^A to define a hyperboloid vector field⁴

$$V^{\beta}(y') := \int d^2 \hat{x} \, G^{\beta}_A(y'; \hat{x}) V^A(\hat{x}) \,. \tag{4.14}$$

In terms of this vector field, the charge (4.9) can finally be written as

$$Q^{\text{hard}}[V] = \int d^3 y' V^{\beta}(y') \overset{0}{j}_{\beta}(y').$$
(4.15)

In appendix A we evaluate $\mathcal{G}^{\beta}_{\alpha}(y;y')$ and $G^{\beta}_{A}(y';\hat{x})$, and show that

$$G_A^\beta(y;\hat{q}) = \frac{1}{8\pi} (-q \cdot Y)^{-3} J_{\mu\nu}^\beta(y) L_A^{\mu\nu}(\hat{q})$$
(4.16)

where $J^{\beta}_{\mu\nu}(y)$ and $L^{\mu\nu}_{A}(\hat{q})$ are the angular momentum generators on the hyperboloid and sphere respectively.

Thus, to summarise, the total charge Q[V] at future infinity is

$$Q[V]|_{+} = \int_{i^{+}} d^{3}y' V^{\beta}(y') \overset{0}{j}_{\beta}(y') + \int_{\mathcal{I}^{+}} d^{2}\hat{x} du \, V^{z} u \, \partial_{u} D_{z} D^{\bar{z}} A_{\bar{z}} + (z \leftrightarrow \bar{z}) \,. \tag{4.17}$$

We can write the charge at past infinity in exactly analogous fashion.

The infinity of conservation laws parametrized by V^A are then given by

$$Q[V]|_{\mathcal{I}^+ \cup i^+} = Q[V]|_{\mathcal{I}^- \cup i^-}.$$
(4.18)

In the next section we evaluate the corresponding Ward identities for tree-level S matrix and show that they are equivalent to subleading soft photon theorems (for both helicities) in scalar QED.

⁴Note that G_A^{β} consists of \mathcal{G}_A^{ρ} and \mathcal{G}_A^B which collectively map the vector field on the celestial sphere to a vector field tangential to the asymptotic hyperboloid.

4.2 Ward identities and tree level soft theorem

We will for simplicity consider vector fields such that $V^{\bar{z}} = 0$ (corresponding to negative helicity subleading soft photon theorem). In order to evaluate the S matrix Ward identity, we first need to express Q[V] in terms of Fock operators. For the soft charge, this is done by writing it in frequency space as [13]

$$Q^{\text{soft}}[V] = \lim_{\omega \to 0} \partial_{\omega} \omega \int d^2 z \ V^z(z,\bar{z}) \ D_z^2 A_{\bar{z}}(\omega,z,\bar{z}), \qquad (4.19)$$

and then expressing $A_{\bar{z}}(\omega, z, \bar{z})$ in terms of photon Fock operators.

As seen in the previous section, the hard charge is given by

$$Q^{\text{hard}}[V] = \int d^3y \ V^{\alpha}(y) \ \overset{0}{j}_{\alpha}(y) \tag{4.20}$$

with

$$V^{\alpha}(y) = \frac{1}{8\pi} \int d^2 \hat{q} (-q \cdot Y)^{-3} J^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}(y) L^{\mu\nu}_w(\hat{q}) V^w(\hat{q}).$$
(4.21)

Thus, to quantize $Q^{\text{hard}}[V]$ we need to evaluate the asymptotic current $\overset{0}{j_{\alpha}}$ in terms of asymptotic fields.⁵ The $\tau \to \infty$ asymptotics of the free massive field (3.9) yields

$${}^{0}_{j_{\alpha}} = \frac{iem}{4(2\pi)^{3}} (b\partial_{\alpha}b^{*} - b^{*}\partial_{\alpha}b) - (b\leftrightarrow c).$$

$$(4.22)$$

The quantum charge is then defined in terms of Fock operators $b, b^{\dagger}, c, c^{\dagger}$ by a normal ordered version of (4.22). From the commutator of the Fock operators (written in hyperbolic coordinates)

$$[b(y), b^{\dagger}(y')] = \frac{2(2\pi)^3}{m^2} \delta^{(3)}(y, y'), \qquad (4.23)$$

one immediately finds that the action of hard charge on scattering states can be evaluated using

$$[b(y), Q^{\text{hard}}[V]] = -i\frac{e}{m}V^{\alpha}(y)\partial_{\alpha}b(y)$$
(4.24)

$$[c(y), Q^{\text{hard}}[V]] = +i\frac{e}{m}V^{\alpha}(y)\partial_{\alpha}c(y). \qquad (4.25)$$

Thus, the Ward identity $Q[V]|_+S = SQ[V]|_-$ between given in and out states takes the form

$$\frac{1}{4\pi} \lim_{\omega \to 0} \partial_{\omega} \omega \int d^2 w V^w D_w^2 \frac{\sqrt{2}}{(1+|w|^2)} \mathcal{M}_{N+1}(\omega) = -\frac{e}{m} \sum V^\alpha \partial_\alpha \mathcal{M}_N \tag{4.26}$$

where we have used $A_{\bar{w}}(\omega, \hat{q}) = \frac{1}{4\pi i} \frac{\sqrt{2}}{(1+|w|^2)} a_-(\omega \hat{q})$ [19] and written the r.h.s. for the case of positive outgoing charges (negative or incoming will have relative minus signs).

On the other hand, for tree level amplitudes, the subleading soft photon theorem can be written as

$$\lim_{\omega \to 0} \partial_{\omega}(\omega \mathcal{M}_{N+1}(\omega)) = \sum S^{(1)}(q, y) \mathcal{M}_N$$
(4.27)

⁵We remind the reader that in this section we are considering O(e) fall-offs of the fields and hence the matter field is taken to be free at late times.

where $S^{(1)}(q, y)$ is the differential operator

$$S^{(1)}(q,y) = \frac{e}{m} (q \cdot Y)^{-1} \epsilon^{\mu}_{-} q^{\nu} J^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}(y) \partial_{\alpha}$$
(4.28)

(as in (4.26), in (4.27) we are also parametrizing the spatial components of hard momenta by points y^{α} on the hyperboloid).

To go from the soft theorem (4.27) to the Ward identity (4.26) we smeared both sides of (4.27) by

$$\frac{1}{4\pi} \int d^2 w V^w D_w^2 \frac{\sqrt{2}}{(1+|w|^2)},\tag{4.29}$$

so that the left hand sides coincide. The right hand side then coincide thanks to the identity 6

$$D_w^2\left(\frac{\sqrt{2}}{(1+|w|^2)}S^{(1)}(q,y)\right) = \frac{e}{2m}\sqrt{\gamma}(q\cdot Y)^{-3}L_w^{\mu\nu}J_{\mu\nu}^{\alpha}\partial_{\alpha}.$$
 (4.30)

To go in the reverse order, consider the kernel [13]

$$K_{\bar{w}}^{z} := \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{(1+z\bar{z})}{(1+w\bar{w})} \frac{(w-z)}{(\bar{w}-\bar{z})}$$
(4.31)

which satisfies the identities

$$D_z^2 K_{\bar{w}}^z = \delta^{(2)}(w, z) \tag{4.32}$$

$$D_w^2 K_{\bar{w}}^z = \delta^{(2)}(w, z) \,. \tag{4.33}$$

If we now take the Ward identity (4.26) for the vector field

$$V^w := 4\pi \frac{(1+|w_0|^2)}{\sqrt{2}} K^w_{\bar{w}_0}$$
(4.34)

then, by virtue of (4.32), the l.h.s. of (4.26) becomes the l.h.s. of (4.27) for a soft photon with direction w_0 . Using (4.30) to express the r.h.s. of (4.26) one easily recovers the r.h.s. of (4.27) thanks again to (4.32).

5 Defining Q[V] with general fall-offs

Now that we have warmed up by showing equivalence between tree-level subleading soft theorem and Ward identities associated to the subleading charges (which are conserved assuming O(e) fall-offs), we extend the above definition of subleading charges and corresponding conservation laws for general fall-offs and quantize the corresponding charges. This will lead us to Ward identities which are equivalent to Sahoo-Sen subleading soft photon theorem.

⁶As a consistency check of the formulas, one can compute the $m \to 0$ limit of (4.30) from eq. (A.17), by regarding the $m \to 0$ limit as $\rho = p/m \to \infty$ with p = const. Doing so one recovers the m = 0 identitity $D_w^2\left(\frac{\sqrt{2}}{(1+|w|^2)}S^{(1)}(q,p)\right) = \frac{2\pi e}{p}\delta^{(2)}(\hat{x},\hat{q})\partial_z + \dots$ which corresponds to eq. (4.33).

In the previous section, the subleading charge was defined in terms of $F_{rA}(\hat{x})$ (eq. (4.1)). For the general fall-offs we claim the subleading charge is defined in terms $_{0,\ln}^{0,\ln}$ of $F_{rA}(\hat{x})$, with this coefficient defined in eq. (3.34). We claim the charge is conserved in the sense that

$${}^{0,\ln}_{F^- rA}(\hat{x})|_{\mathcal{I}^+} = {}^{0,\ln}_{F^+ rA}(\hat{x})|_{\mathcal{I}^-}$$

$$(5.1)$$

where $F^+{}_{rA}(\hat{x})|_{\mathcal{I}^-}$ is the analogue coefficient at past null infinity. The conservation (5.1) can be shown by studying the field equations at spatial infinity, along the same lines as in the case of the O(e) fall-offs [11].

Our strategy for writing the charge as a sum of soft and hard charges is the same as $_{0,1}^{0,1}$ in the previous section. Whence we first rewrite $F^{-}{}_{rA}(\hat{x})$ as an integral over null infinity plus a boundary term at $u = +\infty$,

$${}^{0,\ln}_{F^-rA}(\hat{x}) = -\lim_{u \to -\infty} u^2 \partial_u^2 {}^0_{FrA} = \int du \partial_u (u^2 \partial_u^2 {}^0_{FrA}) + {}^{0,\ln}_{F^+rA}(\hat{x}).$$
(5.2)

We will for simplicity focus on the A = z component. The term at null infinity can be expressed in terms of the free data through the field equations

$$\partial_u^2 \overset{0}{F}_{rz} = -D_z D^{\bar{z}} \partial_u A_{\bar{z}}.$$
(5.3)

We then define

$$Q[V] := -\int d^2 \hat{x} V^z F^-{}_{rz}(\hat{x}) =: Q^{\text{soft}}[V] + Q^{\text{hard}}[V].$$
(5.4)

The soft charge is given by⁷

$$Q^{\text{soft}}[V] = \int d^2 z V^z D_z^2 \partial_u u^2 \partial_u A_{\bar{z}} = \lim_{\omega \to 0} \partial_\omega \omega^2 \partial_\omega \int d^2 z V^z D_z^2 A_{\bar{z}}(\omega, z, \bar{z}) \,. \tag{5.5}$$

This has the same angular form as the tree-level soft charge, but with the ω factors now isolating a $O(\ln \omega)$ coefficient in the ω expansion!⁸ The hard charge is given by

$$Q^{\text{hard}}[V] = -\int d^2 \hat{x} V^z F^+{}_{rz}(\hat{x}), \qquad (5.6)$$

which, using eqs. (3.38) and (4.21) can be written as

$$Q^{\text{hard}}[V] = -\int d^3y V^{\alpha}(y) \overset{\text{ln}}{j}_{\alpha}(y)$$
(5.7)

with $V^{\alpha}(y)$ defined as before, eq. (4.21).

⁷Here we used the identity $\omega \partial_{\omega}^2 \omega = \partial_{\omega} \omega^2 \partial_{\omega}$. ⁸More in detail: $\lim_{\omega \to 0} \partial_{\omega} \omega^2 \partial_{\omega} \left(\frac{\frac{-1}{f}}{\omega} + \ln \omega f + O(\omega^0) \right) = f$. We finally discuss the form of $\overset{\ln}{j}_{\alpha}(y)$ in terms of the asymptotic Fock operators. From eq. (3.8) we have

$$j_{\alpha}(\tau, y) \stackrel{\tau \to \infty}{=} \ln \tau 2e^2 \partial_{\alpha} A_{\tau}(y) |\varphi_{\text{free}}(\tau, y)|^2 \,.$$
(5.8)

Using the expression (3.9) for the free field in terms of Fock operators we then find

$${}^{\ln}_{j_{\alpha}}(y) = \frac{me^2}{2(2\pi)^3} [b^{\dagger}(y)b(y) + c^{\dagger}(y)c(y)]\partial_{\alpha}A_{\tau}(y)$$
(5.9)

$$=\frac{e^2}{m}n(y)\partial_{\alpha}A_{\tau}(y) \tag{5.10}$$

where $n(y) = \frac{m^2}{2(2\pi)^3} [b^{\dagger}(y)b(y) + c^{\dagger}(y)c(y)]$ is the number density operator and $A_{\tau}(y)$ is a sum of two terms

$$A_{\tau}(y) = A_{\tau}^{j}(y) + A_{\tau}^{\text{hom}}(y)$$
(5.11)

such that

$$\mathcal{D}^2 A^j_{\tau} = -\overset{0}{j_{\tau}}, \qquad \mathcal{D}^2 A^{\text{hom}}_{\tau} = 0.$$
 (5.12)

Thus $A_{\tau}^{j}(y)$ is the asymptotic scalar potential sourced by the charged matter current and A_{τ}^{hom} is a homogeneous piece that, as we will see depends on the soft mode of the photon field.

We first analyse $A_{\tau}^{j}(y)$. By solving the asymptotic Maxwell equations one can write A_{τ}^{j} in terms of $\overset{0}{j_{\tau}}$ as [12]:

$$A_{\tau}^{j}(y) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int d^{3}y' \left(\frac{Y \cdot Y'}{\sqrt{(Y \cdot Y')^{2} - 1}} + 1 \right)^{0} j_{\tau}(y'), \tag{5.13}$$

where $\stackrel{0}{j_{\tau}}$ is given by

$${}^{0}_{j_{\tau}}(y') = \frac{m^2 e}{2(2\pi)^3} [-b^{\dagger}(y')b(y') + c^{\dagger}(y')c(y')].$$
(5.14)

We now analyse $A_{\tau}^{\text{hom}}(y)$.⁹ Understanding this term is subtle since we expect the homogeneous part of the scalar potential \mathcal{A}_{τ} falls as $\frac{1}{\tau^2}$ implying $A_{\tau}^{\text{hom}}(y) = 0$. As we show below, a detailed analysis of $A_{\tau}^{\text{hom}}(y)$ reveals that it is fixed by a "mode" of $A_A(u, \hat{x})$ which behaves as $\ln u A_A(\hat{x})$. However, as can be seen from eq. (3.36), this mode is absent in the classical theory (the presence of such term would yield an infinite angular momentum flux [16]). Rather remarkably this term turns out to be non-trivial in quantum theory and contributes to the quantized charge.

In order to discuss the relation between the $u \to \infty$ and $\tau \to \infty$ asymptotics it is convenient to work in a representation of \mathcal{A}_{μ} used by Herdegen [16]: a general solution of free Maxwell equations in Lorentz gauge may be written as

$$\mathcal{A}_{\mu}(x) = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \int d^2 \hat{q} \,\Omega^{-1} D^A(\Omega q_{\mu}) \dot{A}_A(-q \cdot x, \hat{q}), \qquad (5.15)$$

⁹An alternative description of $A_{\tau}^{\text{hom}}(y)$ in terms of Kulish-Faddeev fields is given in section 5.1.

where $\dot{A}_A(u, \hat{q}) \equiv \partial_u A_A(u, \hat{q})$ is the *u*-derivative of the radiative data at future null infinity, $q^{\mu} = (1, \hat{q})$, and $\Omega = \Omega(\hat{q}) = (1 + z\bar{z})/\sqrt{2}$.¹⁰

Expression (5.15) can now be used to relate the $u \to \infty$ with $\tau \to \infty$ asymptotics in a straightforward manner.

It says that the $\tau \to \infty$ decay of \mathcal{A}_{μ} is dictated by the $u \to \infty$ decay of $\partial_u A_A(u, \hat{q})$. Here we note that if our radiative data were as in eq. (3.36), we would have $\partial_u A_A(u, \hat{q}) = O(1/u^2)$ and so $\mathcal{A}_{\mu} = O(1/\tau^2)$ as expected. Whence a $O(\tau^{-1})$ term is associated to a log u piece in the radiative data:

$$A_A(u,\hat{x}) \stackrel{u \to \infty}{=} \stackrel{\text{ln}}{A}_A(\hat{x}) \log u + \dots$$
(5.16)

The time-infinity contribution from such logarithmic term can be obtained by substituting (5.16) in (5.15) and taking $x = \tau Y$. For $\mathcal{A}_{\tau} \equiv Y^{\mu} \mathcal{A}_{\mu}$ we get

$$\mathcal{A}_{\tau} = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \int d^2 \hat{q} \,\Omega^{-1} D^A (\Omega Y \cdot q) \frac{\prod_{A}^{\ln} A_A(\hat{q})}{(-\tau Y \cdot q)} + \dots = \frac{1}{\tau} A_{\tau}^{\hom} + \dots$$
(5.17)

with

$$A_{\tau}^{\text{hom}} = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \int d^2 \hat{q} \,\log(-Y \cdot q) D^A \overset{\text{ln}}{A}_A(\hat{q}) + (y\text{-independent})$$
(5.18)

where the *y*-independent term is $-\frac{1}{2\pi}\int d^2\hat{q}\ln(\Omega)D^A A_A^{\ln}$. In the following we will ignore such term since it is irrelevant for the current $\overset{\ln}{j}_{\alpha} \sim \partial_{\alpha}A_{\tau}$.

Whence the total hard charge $Q^{\text{hard}}[V]$ is given by

$$Q^{\text{hard}}[V] := Q_j^{\text{hard}}[V] + Q_{\text{hom}}^{\text{hard}}[V]$$
(5.19)

with

$$Q_{j}^{\text{hard}}[V] = -\int d^{3}y n(y) \ V^{\alpha}(y) \partial_{\alpha} A_{\tau}^{j}(y)$$
$$Q_{\text{hom}}^{\text{hard}}[V] = -\int d^{3}y n(y) V^{\alpha}(y) \ \partial_{\alpha} A_{\tau}^{\text{hom}}(y) .$$
(5.20)

In the next section we quantize the hard charge $Q^{\text{hard}}[V]$. We conclude this section by noting that

- Quantization of $Q_j^{\text{hard}}[V]$ in eq. (5.20) is rather straightforward as it is a quartic operator in charged scalar field as can be seen from eq. (5.13).
- As we will see in the next section and in contrast to the tree level hard charge, the quantum $Q^{\text{hard}}[V]$ has a non-trivial contribution from the gauge field mode at $u = +\infty$, encoded in the non-trivial quantum operator corresponding to $Q_{\text{hom}}^{\text{hard}}[V]$.

¹⁰Herdegen gives a more generic expression for $\mathcal{A}_{\mu}(x)$ parametrized by different choices of (residual) gauge transformations. We have fixed the residual gauge and chosen a given Ω such that Fourier transform of $\mathcal{A}_{\mu}(x)$ matches with the standard expressions in Lorenz gauge [5]. See section 5.1 for further details.

5.1 Deriving $Q_{\text{hom}}^{\text{hard}}[V]$ from infra-red dressing

In this section we derive $Q_{\text{hom}}^{\text{hard}}[V]$. As is clear from eq. (5.20), this entails quantizing $\overset{\text{III}}{A}_A(\hat{x})$. As we show below, quantum operator associated to $\overset{\text{In}}{A}_A(\hat{x})$ has been derived previously, albeit in a different context. Namely, in the analysis of asymptotic (dressed) operators considered previously by Faddeev and Kulish [10]. We will partly follow the KF treatment as presented in [18].

In the KF formulation, the creation and annihilation Fock operators associated to the matter field are dressed due to the fact that the asymptotic Hamiltonian is not free. The dressing is implemented by conjugation with $e^{R(t)} e^{i\Phi(t)}$, where $\Phi(t)$ is a Hermitian operator that captures the Coulombic force between charged particles and R(t) is an anti-Hermitian operator that describes the "photon cloud" surrounding the charged particles. The two operators commute and so one can consider their effect separately. It is found that their action on the particle annihilation operator b(p) produces a phase:

$$e^{-i\Phi(t)}b(p)e^{i\Phi(t)} = e^{i\alpha_1(p)}b(p)$$
(5.21)

$$e^{-R(t)}b(p)e^{R(t)} = e^{i\alpha_2(p)}b(p),$$
(5.22)

with¹¹

$$\alpha_1(p) = -\ln t \frac{e^2}{4\pi} \int d\widetilde{p'} \frac{p \cdot p'}{\sqrt{(p \cdot p')^2 - m^4}} \left(b^{\dagger}(p')b(p') - c^{\dagger}(p')c(p') \right)$$
(5.23)

$$\alpha_2(p) = e \int^t dt' \frac{p^{\mu}}{p^0} \mathcal{A}_{\mu} \left(x^{\nu} = \frac{t' p^{\nu}}{p^0} \right),$$
(5.24)

where $\widetilde{dp} = \frac{d^3 \vec{p}}{2(2\pi)^3 |\vec{p}|}$ and \mathcal{A}_{μ} the free photon field,

$$\mathcal{A}_{\mu}(x) = \int \widetilde{dp'} \, a_{\mu}(p') e^{ip' \cdot x} + \text{h.c.}$$
 (5.25)

The late time asymptotic Kulish-Faddeev field is then obtained by incorporating the phases in the mode expansion, which modulo operator ordering is given by 12

$$\varphi_{\rm KF}(x) = \int \widetilde{dp} \, e^{i\alpha_1(p)} e^{i\alpha_2(p)} \left(b(p) e^{ip \cdot x} + c^{\dagger}(p) e^{-ip \cdot x} \right). \tag{5.26}$$

To compare with the time-infinity asymptotics used in the paper, we need to take the $\tau \to \infty, Y^{\mu} = \text{const.}$ limit of (5.26). In this limit the momentum integral localizes in p = mY and one finds

$$\varphi_{\rm KF}(\tau, y) \stackrel{\tau \to \infty}{=} e^{i\alpha_1(y)} e^{i\alpha_2(y)} \varphi_{\rm free}(\tau, y) \tag{5.27}$$

where $\alpha(y) \equiv \alpha(p^{\mu} = mY^{\mu}).$

¹¹We adapt the formulas of [10, 18] to the normalization of Fock operators used here: $b(p)_{\text{here}} = \sqrt{2p^0}(2\pi)^{3/2}b(p)_{\text{there}}$.

¹²The phase for $c^{\dagger}(p)$ should actually appear multiplying on the right. We are ignoring operator orderings since our aim is to compare with the classical expression (3.8).

Comparison with (3.8) shows that, in order for the two expressions to coincide we should have

$$\alpha_1(y) + \alpha_2(y) \stackrel{\tau \to \infty}{=} e \ln \tau A_\tau(y). \tag{5.28}$$

We show below that (5.28) is satisfied modulo y-independent terms. This suffices for our purposes since the charges depend on A_{τ} through $\partial_{\alpha}A_{\tau}$ and is thus insensitive to such "constant" (constant on the hyperboloid) terms.¹³

Writing α_1 in (5.23) in terms of p = mY and p' = mY', using $\frac{d^3\vec{p}}{|\vec{p}|} = m^2 d^3y$ and comparing with (5.13) one finds

$$\alpha_1(y) = e \ln \tau A^j_{\tau}(y) + \frac{e}{4\pi} \ln \tau \,\hat{Q}$$
(5.29)

where \hat{Q} is the total electric charge operator. This term corresponds to the Coulumbic potential due to the total charge, $\mathcal{A}_{\tau} = \frac{1}{\tau} \frac{Q}{4\pi}$.

We now discuss α_2 . Substituting (5.25) in (5.24) and using the prescription $\int^t dt' e^{ist'} = \frac{1}{is}e^{ist}$ we can see the t' integral leads to

$$\alpha_2 = -ie \int \widetilde{dp'} \, \frac{p^{\mu}}{p \cdot p'} a_{\mu}(p') e^{it \frac{p \cdot p'}{p^0}} + \text{h.c.}$$
(5.30)

We now split the p' integral into angular and energy integrals. Writing $p'^{\mu} = \omega q^{\mu}$ with $q = (1, \hat{q})$ the expression becomes

$$\alpha_2 = -\frac{ie}{2(2\pi)^3} \int d^2\hat{q} \frac{p^{\mu}}{p \cdot q} \int_0^\infty d\omega a_{\mu}(\omega q) e^{i\omega \frac{p \cdot q}{p^0}t} + \text{h.c.}$$
(5.31)

Writing

$$a_{\mu}(\omega q) \stackrel{\omega \to 0^+}{=} \frac{1}{\omega} a_{\mu}^{\text{soft}+}(\hat{q}) + \cdots, \qquad (5.32)$$

the ω integral can be evaluated using $\int_0^\infty d\omega \omega^{-1} e^{is\omega} = -\ln s$, leading to

$$\alpha_2 = \ln t \frac{ie}{2(2\pi)^3} \int d^2 \hat{q} \frac{p^{\mu}}{p \cdot q} a_{\mu}^{\text{soft}+}(\hat{q}) + \text{h.c.}$$
(5.33)

To compare with $\mathcal{A}_{\tau}^{\text{hom}}$ we need to find the relation between $a_{\mu}(p')$ and the free data at null infinity. Recall $a_{\mu}(p')$ in (5.25) is given by

$$a_{\mu}(p') = \epsilon_{\mu}^{-}(p')a_{+}(p') + \epsilon_{\mu}^{+}(p')a_{-}(p')$$
(5.34)

where $\epsilon^{\pm}_{\mu}(p')$ are positive/negative helicity polarization vectors and $a_{\pm}(p')$ the corresponding Fock operators. Let us for concreteness consider the polarization vectors used in [5]

$$\epsilon_{\mu}^{+} = \partial_{z}(\Omega q_{\mu}), \qquad \epsilon_{\mu}^{-} = \partial_{\bar{z}}(\Omega q_{\mu})$$
(5.35)

where we recall that $\Omega = (1 + z\bar{z})/\sqrt{2}$ and $p'^{\mu} = \omega q^{\mu}$ as before. Using the relation between Fock operators and (Fourier transformed) radiative data A_z given in eq. (5.41) one finds

$$a_{\mu}(\omega q) = 4\pi i \,\Omega^{-1} \,D^A(\Omega q_{\mu})\tilde{A}_A(\omega,\hat{q}), \qquad (5.36)$$

¹³The field strength is also independent of such terms.

from where it immediately follows that

$$a_{\mu}^{\text{soft}+}(\hat{q}) = -4\pi \,\Omega^{-1} \,D^{A}(\Omega q_{\mu})[A_{A}(\hat{q})]^{+}.$$
(5.37)

where $[A_A(\hat{q})]^+$ is defined below in eq. (5.44). Substituting in (5.33), integrating by parts and evaluating at $p^{\mu} = mY^{\mu}$ we arrive at

$$\alpha_2(y) = e \ln \tau \frac{i}{(2\pi)^2} \int d^2 \hat{q} \ln(-Y \cdot q) D^A [A_A(\hat{q})]^+ + \text{h.c.}$$
(5.38)

we thus conclude that

$$\alpha_2(y) = e \ln \tau A_{\tau}^{\text{hom}}(y) + \text{y-independent term}$$
(5.39)

where the "y-independent" piece corresponds to the one appearing in eq. (5.18) and $A_{\tau}^{\text{hom}}(y)$ is given as,

$$A_{\tau}^{\text{hom}}(y) = \frac{i}{(2\pi)^2} \int d^2 \hat{q} \ln(-Y \cdot q) D^A [A_A(\hat{q})]^+ + \text{h.c.} + \text{y-indepdendent term.}$$
(5.40)

Comparing eq. (5.40) with eq. (5.18) and using the relation between $\tilde{A}_A(\omega, \hat{x})$ and the photon Fock operators [5]

$$\tilde{A}_{z}(\omega, \hat{x}) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{4\pi i} \frac{\sqrt{2}}{1+|z|^{2}} a_{+}(\omega, \hat{x}) & \text{for} \quad \omega > 0\\ -\frac{1}{4\pi i} \frac{\sqrt{2}}{1+|z|^{2}} a_{-}^{\dagger}(-\omega, \hat{x}) & \text{for} \quad \omega < 0 \end{cases}$$
(5.41)

we get,

$$\overset{\ln}{A}_{z} = \frac{i}{8\pi^{2}} \frac{\sqrt{2}}{1+z\bar{z}} \lim_{\omega \to 0^{+}} \omega(a_{+}(\omega, \hat{x}) - a^{\dagger}_{-}(\omega, \hat{x})).$$
(5.42)

 $A_{\bar{z}}^{\ln}$ is given by a similar expression with + and - interchanged.

For later purposes, it will be useful to rewrite the expression for $\overset{\text{in}}{A}_A$ as

$${}^{\ln}_{A_A} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} ([A_A]^+ - [A_A]^-)$$
(5.43)

where

$$[A_A(\hat{x})]^{\pm} = -i \lim_{\omega \to 0^{\pm}} \omega \tilde{A}_A(\omega, \hat{x})$$
(5.44)

is the evaluation of $[A_A]$ using only positive/negative frequencies.¹⁴ In terms of these quantities, we can express $A_{\tau}^{\text{hom}}(y)$ in eq. (5.18) as

$$A_{\tau}^{\text{hom}}(y) = -\frac{1}{4\pi^2 i} \int d^2 \hat{q} \, \log(-Y \cdot q) (D^A [A_A(\hat{q})]^+ - D^A [A_A(\hat{q})]^-).$$
(5.45)

We would once again like to emphasise that this mode is absent in classical theory due to asymptotic boundary condition imposed on the radiative data at \mathcal{I}^+_+ . Whence we interpret this contribution as a purely quantum contribution to the hard charge.

¹⁴That is,
$$\lim_{\omega \to 0^+} \omega \tilde{A}_z(\omega) \sim \lim_{\omega \to 0} \omega a_-(\omega)$$
 and $\lim_{\omega \to 0^-} \omega \tilde{A}_z(\omega) \sim -\lim_{\omega \to 0} \omega a_+^{\dagger}(\omega)$.

5.2 Quantization of the hard charge

Having derived the quantum operator associated to $\stackrel{\text{ln}}{A_z}$ (or more generally $\stackrel{\text{ln}}{A_A}$), we are in a position to quantize $Q^{\text{hard}}[V]$, which as we recall, is given by

$$Q^{\text{hard}}[V] = -\frac{e^2}{m} \int d^3y \ n(y) \ V^{\alpha}(y) \ \partial_{\alpha} A_{\tau}(y)$$
(5.46)

where

$$n(y) = \frac{m^2}{2(2\pi)^3} \left[b^{\dagger}(y)b(y) + c^{\dagger}(y)c(y) \right]$$

is the number-density operator and

$$A_{\tau}(y) = A_{\tau}^{j}(y) + A_{\tau}^{\text{hom}}(y)$$
 (5.47)

given in eqs. (5.13), (5.18). Let

$$|\text{out}\rangle = |(e_1, y_1), (e_2, y_2), \cdots\rangle$$
 (5.48)

be an 'out' state consisting of particles with momenta labeled by y_1, y_2, \cdots and electric charge e_1, e_2, \cdots where $e_i = \pm e$ for a particle/antiparticle. The action of n(y) on such state is easly obtained from the Fock commutation relation:

$$n(y)|\text{out}\rangle = \sum_{a\in\text{out}} \delta^{(3)}(y, y_a)|\text{out}\rangle,$$
 (5.49)

from which we find 15

$$Q^{\text{hard}}|\text{out}\rangle = -\frac{e^2}{m} \sum_{a \in \text{out}} V^{\alpha}(y_a) \frac{\partial}{\partial y_i^{\alpha}} A_{\tau}(y_a) |\text{out}\rangle.$$
(5.50)

We next need to compute the action of $A_{\tau}(y_i)$ on the out state. Rather than doing so directly, we will consider the computation within S matrix elements,

$$\langle \text{out}|Q^{\text{hard}}S|\text{in}\rangle = -\frac{e^2}{m}\sum_{a\in\text{out}}V^{\alpha}(y_a)\frac{\partial}{\partial y_a^{\alpha}}\langle \text{out}|A_{\tau}(y_a)S|\text{in}\rangle,\tag{5.51}$$

as this will bring out simplifications and will suffice for the evaluation of Ward identities. We write

$$\langle \operatorname{out}|Q^{\operatorname{hard}}S|\operatorname{in}\rangle = \langle \operatorname{out}|Q^{\operatorname{hard}}_{j}S|\operatorname{in}\rangle + \langle \operatorname{out}|Q^{\operatorname{hard}}_{\operatorname{hom}}S|\operatorname{in}\rangle$$
(5.52)

to denote the contributions from A_{τ}^{j} and A_{τ}^{hom} respectively. The first contribution can be evaluated from the action of $\overset{0}{j_{\tau}}(y')$ on the out state,

$${}_{j_{\tau}}^{0}(y')|\text{out}\rangle = -\sum_{a\in\text{out}} e_a \delta^{(3)}(y', y_a)|\text{out}\rangle$$
(5.53)

¹⁵There is a subtely here in that n(y) and $A_{\tau}^{j}(y)$ do note commute. Thus, strictly speaking, eq. (5.50) is only valid for an operator ordering where n(y) appears to the right of $A_{\tau}^{j}(y)$. The action for the corrected, normal ordered operator, can however be easily obtained from eq. (5.50), see eq. (5.55) and footnote 16.

together with eq. (5.13)

$$A^{j}_{\tau}(y) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int d^{3}y' \left(\frac{Y \cdot Y'}{\sqrt{(Y \cdot Y')^{2} - 1}} + 1 \right) \overset{0}{j}_{\tau}(y'), \tag{5.54}$$

leading to 16

$$\langle \text{out} | Q_j^{\text{hard}} S | \text{in} \rangle = \frac{e^2}{4\pi m} \sum_{a,b \in \text{out}} e_b \ V^{\alpha}(y_a) \frac{\partial}{\partial y_a^{\alpha}} \left(\frac{Y_a \cdot Y_b}{\sqrt{(Y_a \cdot Y_b)^2 - 1}} \right) \langle \text{out} | S | \text{in} \rangle.$$
(5.55)

We now evaluate the second contribution,

$$\int d^{3}y \ V^{\alpha}(y) \ \langle \operatorname{out}|n(y)\partial_{\alpha}A^{\operatorname{hom}}_{\tau}(y)S|\operatorname{in}\rangle$$
$$= -\frac{e^{2}}{m} \sum_{a \in \operatorname{out}} V^{\alpha}(y_{a}) \frac{\partial}{\partial y^{\alpha}_{a}} \langle \operatorname{out}|A^{\operatorname{hom}}_{\tau}(y_{a})S|\operatorname{in}\rangle.$$
(5.56)

The action of A_{τ}^{hom} in the above equation can be evaluated by noting that (5.45) is closely related to the leading soft charge [19],

$$Q_0^{\text{soft}}[\lambda] := \frac{1}{2} \int d^2 \hat{q} \lambda(\hat{q}) (D^A [A_A(\hat{q})]^+ + D^A [A_A(\hat{q})]^-).$$
(5.57)

Let us see why this is the case. Consider a specific choice of the celestial function λ given by,

$$\lambda_a(\hat{q}) := \log(-q \cdot Y_a). \tag{5.58}$$

Taking this function as a (leading) large gauge parameter,¹⁷ the corresponding gauge parameter at time infinity is given by [9]

$$\Lambda_a(y) := \frac{1}{4\pi} \int d^2 \hat{q} \frac{\lambda_a(\hat{q})}{(q \cdot Y)^2}.$$
(5.59)

We then have

$$\langle \text{out} | A_{\tau}^{\text{hom}}(y_a) S | \text{in} \rangle = -\frac{1}{4\pi^2 i} \langle \text{out} | 2Q_0^{\text{soft}}[\lambda_a] S | \text{in} \rangle$$
$$= -\frac{1}{4\pi^2 i} \sum_b e_b \Lambda_a(y_b)$$
(5.60)

where we used the leading Ward identity together with $Q_0^{\text{soft}}[\lambda]S = -SQ_0^{\text{soft}}[\lambda]$. The integral (5.59) can be shown to be given by

$$\Lambda_a(y) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{Y \cdot Y_a}{\sqrt{Y \cdot Y_a^2 - 1}} \log \left(\frac{Y \cdot Y_a + \sqrt{Y \cdot Y_a^2 - 1}}{Y \cdot Y_a - \sqrt{Y \cdot Y_a^2 - 1}} \right) + \text{ terms independent of } y_a. \tag{5.61}$$

¹⁶The correct, normal ordered charge yields eq. (5.55) with the divergent a = b terms absent. We will implicitly assume the restriction $a \neq b$ on the double sum.

¹⁷Note that the sub-script a indicates a point on the hyperboloid and is not a co-vector index.

Substituting eq. (5.60) in r.h.s. of eq. (5.56) we get,

$$\langle \text{out}|Q_{\text{hom}}^{\text{hard}}[V] \ S \ |\text{in}\rangle = \frac{e^2}{4\pi^2 im} \sum_{a \in \text{out}, b} e_b \ V^{\alpha}(y_a) \partial_{\alpha} \Lambda_a(y_b) \ \langle \text{out}| \ S \ |\text{in}\rangle \,.$$
(5.62)

We can similarly evaluate $\langle \text{out} | S Q^{\text{hard}}[V] | \text{in} \rangle$ and combining the result with eqs. (5.55), (5.62) we get,

$$\langle \text{out} | [Q^{\text{hard}}[V], S] | \text{in} \rangle =$$

$$\frac{e^2}{4\pi m} \left(\sum_{a,b\in\text{out}} e_b V^{\alpha}(y_a) \frac{\partial}{\partial y_a^{\alpha}} \left(\frac{Y_a \cdot Y_b}{\sqrt{(Y_a \cdot Y_b)^2 - 1}} \right) - \text{out} \leftrightarrow \text{in} \right)$$

$$+ \frac{e^2}{4\pi i m} \left(\sum_{a\in\text{out},b} - \sum_{a\in\text{in},b} \right) e_b V^{\alpha}(y_a) \partial_{\alpha} \Lambda_a(y_b)$$

$$\langle \text{out} | S | \text{in} \rangle.$$

$$(5.63)$$

We can re-express the r.h.s. of the above equation in a more compact form as follows. Let

$$s_{1}(Y_{a}, Y_{b}) = + e^{2} e_{b} \frac{Y_{a} \cdot Y_{b}}{\sqrt{(Y_{a} \cdot Y_{b})^{2} - 1}} \quad \text{if } (a, b) \in \text{out}$$
$$= - e^{2} e_{b} \frac{Y_{a} \cdot Y_{b}}{\sqrt{(Y_{a} \cdot Y_{b})^{2} - 1}} \quad \text{if } (a, b) \in \text{in}$$
(5.64)

= 0 otherwise

and

$$s_2(Y_a, Y_b) = -i \ e_b \ \Lambda_a(Y_b) \quad \forall \ a \in \text{out}$$

= $i \ e_b \ \Lambda_a(Y_b) \quad \forall \ a \in \text{in} .$ (5.65)

We then have

$$\langle \text{out} | [Q^{\text{hard}}[V], S] | \text{in} \rangle =$$

$$\frac{e^2}{4\pi m} \sum_{a,b} V^{\alpha}(y_a) \frac{\partial}{\partial y_a^{\alpha}} \left(s_1(Y_a, Y_b) + s_2(Y_a, Y_b) \right) \langle \text{out} | S | \text{in} \rangle .$$

$$(5.66)$$

6 Ward identity and Sahoo-Sen subleading theorem

Let $S = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} S_{(n)}$ where $\sum_{n=0}^{N} S_{(n)}$ denotes the (loop-corrected) S matrix operator up to order $O(e^{2N})$. $S_{(0)}$ is the tree-level S matrix. The ward identity for Q[V] can then be written in a loop expansion as,

$$\langle \operatorname{out} | [Q^{\operatorname{soft}}[V], S_{(n)}] | \operatorname{in} \rangle = - \langle \operatorname{out} | [Q^{\operatorname{hard}}[V], S_{(n-1)}] | \operatorname{in} \rangle.$$
 (6.1)

Whence the Quantum-corrected Ward identity (for the sub-leading charge) in scalar QED is given by,

$$\langle \operatorname{out} | [Q^{\operatorname{soft}}[V], S_{(n)}] | \operatorname{in} \rangle = -\frac{1}{4\pi m} \sum_{a, b} V^{\alpha}(y_a) \frac{\partial}{\partial y_a^{\alpha}} \left(s_1(Y_a, Y_b) + s_2(Y_a, Y_b) \right) \left\langle \operatorname{out} | S_{(n-1)} | \operatorname{in} \right\rangle.$$
(6.2)

We now claim that this Ward identity is equivalent to the Sahoo-Sen sub-leading Soft photon theorem in Scalar QED.

Let us for simplicity, specialise to 1-loop S matrix. In this case, the Ward identity gives,

$$\langle \text{out} | [Q^{\text{soft}}[V], S_t] | \text{in} \rangle = 0$$

$$\langle \text{out} | [Q^{\text{soft}}[V], S_t] | \text{in} \rangle = - \langle \text{out} | [Q^{\text{hard}}[V], S_t] | \text{in} \rangle .$$

$$(6.3)$$

The first of the above two equations can be re-written as,

$$\lim_{\omega \to 0} \partial_{\omega} \omega^2 \partial_{\omega} \mathcal{M}_{n+1}^{\text{tree}}(p_1, \dots, p_n, k) = 0$$
(6.4)

which is consistent with the tree-level soft photon theorem which has no $\ln \omega$ term.

The second equation yields a "1-loop corrected" Ward identity, which using eq. (5.66) can be written as

$$\langle \operatorname{out} | [Q^{\operatorname{soft}}[V], S_l] | \operatorname{in} \rangle = -\frac{e^2}{4\pi m} \sum_{a,b} V^{\alpha}(y_a) \frac{\partial}{\partial y_a^{\alpha}} \left(s_1(Y_a, Y_b) + s_2(Y_a, Y_b) \right) \left\langle \operatorname{out} | S_t | \operatorname{in} \right\rangle.$$

$$(6.5)$$

We will now show how this Ward identity is equivalent to the logarithmic sub-leading soft photon theorem for 1-loop QED scattering amplitude.

$$\lim_{\omega \to 0} \partial_{\omega} \omega^2 \partial_{\omega} \mathcal{M}_{n+1}^l(\text{out, in}, k) = \sum_{a,b} S^{(\ln)}(p_a, p_b) \mathcal{M}_n^t(\text{out, in}).$$
(6.6)

The l.h.s. of eq. (6.6) contains a 1-loop corrected scattering amplitude which is infra-red divergent and is regularised in [4] using the technique developed by Grammer-Yennie in [17]. The r.h.s. contains a logarithmic soft factor multiplying tree-level scattering amplitude given in eq. (1.1). Thus formally, the soft theorem has the same structure as the sub-leading Ward identity. We now show that they are equivalent. Following the same steps leading to the tree-level Ward identity (4.26), we arrive at the following form for eq. (6.5).

$$\frac{1}{4\pi} \lim_{\omega \to 0} \partial_{\omega} \omega^2 \partial_{\omega} \int d^2 w V^w D_w^2 \frac{\sqrt{2}}{(1+|w|^2)} \mathcal{M}_{N+1}(\omega) = -i \frac{e^2}{m} \sum_{a,b \in \text{out}} e_b s(y_a, y_b) \mathcal{M}_N - (\text{out} \leftrightarrow \text{in}).$$
(6.7)

To obtain the soft theorem, we choose V^w as in eq. (4.34) so that the l.h.s. of (6.7) becomes

l.h.s. =
$$\lim_{\omega \to 0} \partial_{\omega} \omega^2 \partial_{\omega} \mathcal{M}_{N+1}(p_1, \dots; (\omega \hat{q}(w_0, \bar{w}_0), \epsilon_-)).$$
 (6.8)

On the other hand, for this choice of V^w we have

$$V^{\alpha}\partial_{\alpha} = -(q \cdot Y)^{-1} \epsilon^{\mu}_{-} q^{\nu} J^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}(y) \partial_{\alpha}, \qquad (6.9)$$

which was the identity that allowed us to recover the subleading tree-level soft theorem from the Ward identity. Going back to the definition for $s_1(y, y') + s_2(y, y')$ given in eqs. (5.64) and (5.65) we can readily show that the r.h.s. of (6.7) is precisely given by r.h.s. of eq. (6.6).

Several comments are in order:

- Rather remarkably, the quantum piece in the log corrected soft photon theorem which includes sum over all pairs of particles naturally arises due to a Quantum correction to the hard charge. In [4], it was shown that this quantum piece is small when back-reaction effect of emitted radiation on scattering particles can be neglected. We see that even from the perspective of Asymptotic charge, the quantum correction to the hard charge is small when particles suffer small deflection. This is due to the fact that this hard charge is governed by leading soft photon factor which vanishes in the limit of vanishing deflection of scattering particles.
- We recall that the central beast in our derivation of $Q^{\text{hard}}[V]$ is $A_{\tau} = A_{\tau}^{j} + A_{\tau}^{\text{hom}}$. As we show in section 5.1, A_{τ} has a clear relationship with Kulish-Faddeev Dressing factor.
- As the hard charge is quartic in matter operators, The algebra generated by Q[V] is not understood and hence we so far lack any understanding of Asymptotic symmetry associated to the conservation laws.

7 Conclusion and open questions

Analyzing Physics of gauge theories at spatial infinity appears to offer an interesting perspective for exploring the infinite dimensional Asymptotic symmetries which constrain the scattering amplitudes of the theory in the IR sector. Most of the work in this subject has focused on understanding the relationship between soft theorems, Asymptotic symmetries and classical effects like the memory by focusing on symmetries of tree-level scattering amplitudes. For leading soft theorems and associated asymptotic symmetries (like large U(1) gauge transformations at celestial sphere) this is not an issue as soft theorems and the corresponding Asymptotic charges are protected against (infra-red divergent) loop corrections.¹⁸ As [4] have shown, the sub-leading soft theorems in Four dimensions gets "non-perturbatively" corrected by infra-red effects and in fact a new soft factor appears at $O(\ln \omega)$. In this paper we have shown that the story established at tree level, namely an equivalence between infinity of conservation laws and sub-leading soft photon theorem continues to hold even when sub-leading soft photon theorem receives log corrections. We believe that the charges derived here may be associated to divergent large gauge transformations [15, 19, 21] but a detailed analysis of this issue remains to be done.

Many questions remain open. Although the conserved charges are well defined in classical as well as Quantum theory, their action on radiative data is not clear. A naive analysis shows that the action of $Q^{\text{soft}}[V]$ on the Ashtekar-Struebel radiative data is trivial!

¹⁸This is no longer true in Non-Abelian gauge theories in four dimensions [1].

Furthermore, the action of $Q^{\text{hard}}[V]$ on massive matter does not shed light on the nature of the symmetry. It is also important to notice that as the hard charge is quartic in the (matter) field, their Poisson brackets do not appear to close to form an Algebra. Hence the nature of the symmetry associated to the conservation laws derived in this paper remains unclear.

One of the key concerns regarding symmetries of S-matrix in QED and Quantum Gravity comes from the fact that in four dimensions due to infra-red divergences the S-matrix does not exist and is only a formally defined object. Of course, as soft theorem is really a statement concerning ratios of two Scattering amplitudes (involving amplitudes with and without soft particle), it is a well defined statement even in the absence of a well-defined S matrix [4]. However when it comes to formulating statements about symmetries of S-matrix, we need a well defined S matrix!

If we restrict our analysis to tree-level scattering amplitudes, this issue does not arise as there are no IR divergences but in the current example, when we are trying to understand loop corrected soft theorems as Ward identities, this issue becomes relevant. As is well known, in the case of QED (and Gravity) one can in fact define infra-red finite S matrix with more careful treatment of the charged scattering states which acquire a dressing due to long range Coulombic effect. Whence a question that needs to be addressed is, whether the Ward identities associated to the conservation laws are equivalent to Sahoo-Sen subleading theorem when evaluated in dressed states. Although we did not answer this question in this paper, we showed how the KF dressing is directly related to the Asymptotic matter fields at time-infinity. This observation may be of some relevance when analysing these Asymptotic symmetries in dressed states.

Finally, in this paper we focussed on sub-leading soft photon theorem in the absence of gravitational interaction. As was shown in [4], the loop corrected soft photon theorem receives further correction once Gravitational drag effect on outgoing soft radiation is taken into account. It will be interesting and highly non-trivial to understand this modification from the perspective of Asymptotic charges. This issue is currently under investigation [22].

Acknowledgments

We are indebted to Nabamita Banerjee, Sayali Atul Bhatkar, Marc Geiler, Arnab Priya Saha, Biswajit Sahoo, Ashoke Sen and Amitabh Virmani for many stimulating discussions. MC would like to thank Chennai Mathematical Institute, Institute of Mathematical Sciences and Raman Research Institute for hospitality during the final stages of this project. AL would like to thank Center for High energy Physics (CHEP) in IISC, Bangalore for hospitality where part of this work was done. AL would like to thank participants of the IISER Pune workshop on soft physics, in particular Shamik Banerjee and Dileep Jatkar for insightful comments. He would also like to thank organisers of the workshop for allowing him to present this work.

A Green's functions

One way to obtain the Green's function $\mathcal{G}^{\alpha}_{\beta}$ is by expanding in $1/\tau$ the standard Minkowski spacetime Green's function. We start with Maxwell equations in Lorentz gauge,

$$\Box A_{\mu} = -j_{\mu},\tag{A.1}$$

and write the corresponding retarded solution,

$$A_{\mu}(x) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int d^4 x' \theta(t-t) \delta((x-x')^2) j_{\mu}(x').$$
 (A.2)

We next express (A.2) in terms of hyperbolic coordinates. Writing $x^{\mu} = \tau Y^{\mu}$, $x'^{\mu} = \tau' Y'^{\mu}$ and defining

$$\sigma := -Y^{\mu}Y'_{\mu} \tag{A.3}$$

one has

$$d^4x' = d\tau' d^3y' \tau'^3, \tag{A.4}$$

$$\delta((x - x')^2) = \frac{1}{2\tau\sqrt{\sigma^2 - 1}} (\delta(\tau' - \tau_+) + \delta(\tau' - \tau_-))$$
(A.5)

where

$$\tau_{\pm} = \tau (\sigma \pm \sqrt{\sigma^2 - 1}). \tag{A.6}$$

One can check that the τ_+ and τ_- roots correspond to advanced or retarded boundary conditions respectively, so only the second one will be relevant in the present discussion.

The idea now is to substitute the $1/\tau'$ expansion of the current on the r.h.s. of (A.2) and evaluate the τ' integral with the Dirac delta function to obtain a $1/\tau$ expansion for the vector potential. For the O(e) fall-offs, the cartesian components of the current and vector potential have an expansion of the form

$$A_{\mu}(\tau, y) = \frac{1}{\tau} \stackrel{0}{A_{\mu}}(y) + \frac{1}{\tau^{2}} \stackrel{1}{A_{\mu}}(y) + \cdots$$
(A.7)

$$j_{\mu}(\tau, y) = \frac{1}{\tau^3} {}^0_{\mu}(y) + \frac{1}{\tau^4} {}^1_{\mu}(y) + \cdots$$
(A.8)

Performing the τ' integral one finds

$${}^{1}_{A_{\mu}}(y) = \int d^{3}y'g(-Y \cdot Y'){}^{1}_{\mu}(y')$$
(A.9)

where

$$g(\sigma) := \frac{1}{4\pi} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\sigma^2 - 1}} \frac{1}{(\sigma - \sqrt{\sigma^2 - 1})} \,. \tag{A.10}$$

From (A.9) we can obtain the Green's function $\mathcal{G}^{\beta}_{\alpha}$ of eq. (4.11) as follows. The cartesian current components of the current are expressed in terms of hyperbolic components according to

$$j_{\mu} = -Y_{\mu}j_{\tau} + \frac{1}{\tau}\mathcal{D}^{\alpha}Y_{\mu}j_{\alpha}, \qquad (A.11)$$

whereas the hyperbolic components of the vector potential are

$$A_{\tau} = Y^{\mu}A_{\mu}, \quad A_{\alpha} = \tau \partial_{\alpha}Y^{\mu}A_{\mu}. \tag{A.12}$$

Substituting in (A.9) and computing the field strength one eventually arrives at

$${}^{1}_{F_{\tau\alpha}}(y) = \int d^{3}y'g(\sigma)\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\mathcal{D}'^{\beta}\sigma^{0}_{j\beta}(y') - \partial_{\alpha}\int d^{3}y'g(\sigma)\sigma^{1}_{j\tau}(y').$$
(A.13)

This is not explicitly in the form (4.11) but it can be brought into this form by using eq. (3.23) to express j_{τ}^{1} in terms of the divergence of j_{β}^{0} and integrating by parts.

Studying the $\rho \rightarrow \infty$ limit of (A.13) one finds the desired asymptotic behavior (4.12) with

$$G_B^{\alpha}(y;\hat{q}) = \frac{1}{8\pi} (-q \cdot Y)^{-3} J_{\mu\nu}^{\alpha}(y) L_B^{\mu\nu}(\hat{q})$$
(A.14)

where $J^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu} = Y_{\mu}\mathcal{D}^{\alpha}Y_{\nu} - (\mu \leftrightarrow \nu)$ and $L^{\mu\nu}_{B} = q^{\mu}D_{B}q^{\nu} - (\mu \leftrightarrow \nu)$ are the Lorentz generators on the hyperboloid and sphere respectively.

Finally, it is interesting to compute the $\rho \to \infty$ asymptotics of (A.14) by means of the identities [20]

$$(-q \cdot Y)^{-3} \stackrel{\rho \to \infty}{=} 4\pi \rho \delta^{(2)}(\hat{x}, \hat{q}) \tag{A.15}$$

$$J^A_{\mu\nu}(y)L^{\mu\nu}_B(\hat{q})|_{\hat{q}=\hat{x}} \stackrel{\rho\to\infty}{=} -\rho^{-2}\delta^A_B \tag{A.16}$$

leading to

$$G_B^A(y;\hat{q}) \stackrel{\rho \to \infty}{=} -\frac{1}{2} \rho^{-1} \delta_B^A \delta^{(2)}(\hat{x},\hat{q}).$$
 (A.17)

This limiting behavior can be used to obtain the massless subleading soft factor from the massive one (see comment in footnote 6).

A.1 Log-corrected fields

Repeating the calculation above for the logarithmic corrected τ -fall offs one finds

$${}^{\ln}_{F_{\tau\alpha}}(y) = \int d^3y' \mathcal{G}^{\beta}_{\alpha}(y;y') {}^{\ln}_{j\,\beta}(y')$$
(A.18)

$${}^{1}_{F_{\tau\alpha}}(y) = \partial_{\alpha}Y^{\mu} \int d^{3}y'(1 - \ln(\sigma - \sqrt{\sigma^{2} - 1}))g(\sigma){}^{\ln}_{\mu}(y') + \int d^{3}y'\mathcal{G}^{\beta}_{\alpha}(y;y'){}^{0}_{\beta}(y') \quad (A.19)$$

with

$${}^{\ln}_{j\,\mu} = -Y^{\ln}_{\mu}j_{\,\tau} + \mathcal{D}^{\alpha}Y^{\ln}_{\mu}j_{\,\alpha} \tag{A.20}$$

$$= D^{\alpha}(Y_{\mu}\overset{m}{j}_{\alpha}), \tag{A.21}$$

where in the last equality we used eq. (3.16).

Since $\overset{\ln}{F}_{\tau\alpha}$ has the same form as the tree-level $\overset{1}{F}_{\tau\alpha}$, with $\overset{\ln}{j}$ playing the role of $\overset{0}{j}_{\beta}$, we conclude

$${}^{\ln}F_{\tau A}(\rho,\hat{x}) \stackrel{\rho \to \infty}{=} \frac{1}{\rho} {}^{\ln,0}F_{\tau A}(\hat{x})$$
(A.22)

with

$${}^{\ln,0}_{F_{\tau A}}(\hat{x}) = \int d^3 y' G^{\beta}_A(y'; \hat{x}) {}^{\ln}_{j}{}_{\beta}(y').$$
(A.23)

In order to obtain $\overset{0 \text{ ln}}{F_{rA}}$ from the $(r, u) \leftrightarrow (\tau, \rho)$ change of coordinates we would also need to discuss the $\rho \to \infty$ expansion of $\overset{1}{F_{\tau A}}$. Since this procedure is quite cumbersome, we follow in the next section a simpler route for obtaining F_{rA}^+ in terms of the current at time-infinity.

A.2 Eq. (3.38)

From the field equation at null infinity (5.3) we know the $\ln u$ coefficient of $\overset{0}{F}_{rz}(u,x)$ is related with the 1/u coefficient of $A_z(u,\hat{x})$ by

$${}^{0\ln}_{F_{rz}}(\hat{x}) = -D_z D^{\bar{z}} {}^{1}_{A_{\bar{z}}}(\hat{x}) \,. \tag{A.24}$$

The idea now is to evaluate $\stackrel{1}{A_{\bar{z}}}$ directly from (A.2). For this purpose we write x^{μ} in retarded coordinates and x'^{μ} in hyperboloid coordinates:

$$x^{\mu} = r(1, \hat{x}) + u(1, \vec{0}) \tag{A.25}$$

$$x^{\prime\mu} = \tau Y^{\mu} \tag{A.26}$$

introducing the notation $q^{\mu} = (1, \hat{x})$ we have

$$-(x - x')^{2} = 2r(u + \tau'q \cdot Y') + O(r^{0}).$$
(A.27)

Substituting in (A.2) we find

$$A_{\mu}(x) = \frac{1}{4\pi r} \int d\tau d^3 y \tau^3 \delta(u + \tau q \cdot Y) j_{\mu}(\tau, y) + O(1/r^2) \,. \tag{A.28}$$

We now consider the $\tau \to \infty$ expansion of the current

$$\tau^{3} j_{\mu}(\tau, y) = \overset{0}{j_{\mu}}(y) + \frac{\ln \tau}{\tau} \overset{1n}{j_{\mu}}(y) + \frac{1}{\tau} \overset{1}{j_{\mu}}(y) + \cdots$$
(A.29)

and evaluate the τ integral with the delta function. This yields a $u \to \infty$ expansion of the form

$$A_{\mu}(x) = \frac{1}{r} \left(\stackrel{0}{A}_{\mu}(\hat{x}) + \frac{\ln u}{u} \stackrel{\ln u}{A}_{\mu}(\hat{x}) + \frac{1}{u} \stackrel{1}{A}_{\mu}(\hat{x}) + \cdots \right) + O(1/r^2) \,. \tag{A.30}$$

There appears to be a new $\ln u/u$ term, however

$${}^{\ln}_{A_{\mu}}(\hat{x}) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int d^3y {}^{\ln}_{\mu}(y) = 0 \tag{A.31}$$

because ${}^{\ln}_{j\mu}$ is a total derivative (eq. (A.21)). The term of interest for us is

$${}^{1}_{A_{\mu}}(\hat{x}) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int d^{3}y \left(-\ln(-q \cdot Y) {}^{\ln}_{\mu}(y) + {}^{1}_{\mu}(y) \right), \tag{A.32}$$

with j_{μ}^{\ln} given in (A.21) and

$${}^{1}_{j_{\mu}} = -Y_{\mu}{}^{1}_{j_{\tau}} + \mathcal{D}^{\alpha}Y_{\mu}{}^{0}_{j_{\alpha}}$$
(A.33)

$$=Y_{\mu}\mathcal{D}^{\alpha}\overset{\text{ln}}{j}_{\alpha}+\mathcal{D}^{\alpha}(Y_{\mu}\overset{0}{j}_{\alpha}) \tag{A.34}$$

where in the second equality we used eq. (3.16) and $\overset{1}{j_{\tau}} = \overset{\ln}{j_{\tau}} - \mathcal{D}^{\alpha}\overset{0}{j_{\alpha}}$ as implied by current conservation. Substituting these expressions in (A.32) and rearranging terms one finds $\overset{1}{A}_{\mu}$ can be written as

$${}^{1}_{A_{\mu}}(\hat{x}) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int d^{3}y \, (q \cdot Y)^{-1} q^{\nu} J^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}(y) \, {}^{\ln}_{j\alpha}(y) \tag{A.35}$$

where $J^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}(y) = Y_{\mu}\mathcal{D}^{\alpha}Y_{\nu} - Y_{\nu}\mathcal{D}^{\alpha}Y_{\mu}$. We finally need to evaluate

$$\overset{1}{A}_{\bar{z}} = \partial_{\bar{z}} q^{\mu} \overset{1}{A}_{\mu} \,. \tag{A.36}$$

Comparing with (4.28) we see that $A_{\bar{z}}$ is essentially given by the tree-level subleading soft factor. We can then use the identity (4.30) to evaluate the sphere derivatives (A.24) (written as $D_z D^{\bar{z}} = \gamma_{z\bar{z}} D_z^2$). This leads to

$${}^{0\ln}_{F_{rz}}(\hat{x}) = -\frac{1}{8\pi} \int d^3y \, (q \cdot Y)^{-3} L_z^{\mu\nu}(\hat{x}) J^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu}(y) {}^{\ln}_{j\alpha}(y). \tag{A.37}$$

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- Z. Bern, S. Davies and J. Nohle, On Loop Corrections to Subleading Soft Behavior of Gluons and Gravitons, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 085015 [arXiv:1405.1015] [INSPIRE].
- [2] T. He, D. Kapec, A.M. Raclariu and A. Strominger, Loop-Corrected Virasoro Symmetry of 4D Quantum Gravity, JHEP 08 (2017) 050 [arXiv:1701.00496] [INSPIRE].
- [3] A. Laddha and A. Sen, Observational Signature of the Logarithmic Terms in the Soft-Graviton Theorem, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 024009 [arXiv:1806.01872] [INSPIRE].
- [4] B. Sahoo and A. Sen, Classical and Quantum Results on Logarithmic Terms in the Soft Theorem in Four Dimensions, JHEP 02 (2019) 086 [arXiv:1808.03288] [INSPIRE].
- [5] A. Strominger, Lectures on the Infrared Structure of Gravity and Gauge Theory, arXiv:1703.05448 [INSPIRE].
- [6] A. Ashtekar, M. Campiglia and A. Laddha, Null infinity, the BMS group and infrared issues, Gen. Rel. Grav. 50 (2018) 140 [arXiv:1808.07093] [INSPIRE].
- M. Campiglia and A. Laddha, Asymptotic symmetries of gravity and soft theorems for massive particles, JHEP 12 (2015) 094 [arXiv:1509.01406] [INSPIRE].
- [8] J. Winicour, Massive Fields At Null Infinity, J. Math. Phys. 29 (1988) 2117 [INSPIRE].

- M. Campiglia and A. Laddha, Asymptotic symmetries of QED and Weinberg's soft photon theorem, JHEP 07 (2015) 115 [arXiv:1505.05346] [INSPIRE].
- [10] P.P. Kulish and L.D. Faddeev, Asymptotic conditions and infrared divergences in quantum electrodynamics, Theor. Math. Phys. 4 (1970) 745 [INSPIRE].
- [11] M. Campiglia and A. Laddha, Asymptotic charges in massless QED revisited: A view from Spatial Infinity, JHEP 05 (2019) 207 [arXiv:1810.04619] [INSPIRE].
- [12] M. Campiglia and R. Eyheralde, Asymptotic U(1) charges at spatial infinity, JHEP 11 (2017) 168 [arXiv:1703.07884] [INSPIRE].
- [13] V. Lysov, S. Pasterski and A. Strominger, Low's Subleading Soft Theorem as a Symmetry of QED, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (2014) 111601 [arXiv:1407.3814] [INSPIRE].
- [14] H. Hirai and S. Sugishita, Conservation Laws from Asymptotic Symmetry and Subleading Charges in QED, JHEP 07 (2018) 122 [arXiv:1805.05651] [INSPIRE].
- [15] M. Campiglia and A. Laddha, Subleading soft photons and large gauge transformations, JHEP 11 (2016) 012 [arXiv:1605.09677] [INSPIRE].
- [16] A. Herdegen, Asymptotic structure of electrodynamics revisited, Lett. Math. Phys. 107 (2017) 1439 [arXiv:1604.04170] [INSPIRE].
- [17] G. Grammer Jr. and D.R. Yennie, Improved treatment for the infrared divergence problem in quantum electrodynamics, Phys. Rev. D 8 (1973) 4332 [INSPIRE].
- [18] J. Ware, R. Saotome and R. Akhoury, Construction of an asymptotic S matrix for perturbative quantum gravity, JHEP 10 (2013) 159 [arXiv:1308.6285] [INSPIRE].
- [19] T. He, P. Mitra, A.P. Porfyriadis and A. Strominger, New Symmetries of Massless QED, JHEP 10 (2014) 112 [arXiv:1407.3789] [INSPIRE].
- [20] M. Campiglia, Null to time-like infinity Green's functions for asymptotic symmetries in Minkowski spacetime, JHEP 11 (2015) 160 [arXiv:1509.01408] [INSPIRE].
- [21] A. Laddha and P. Mitra, Asymptotic Symmetries and Subleading Soft Photon Theorem in Effective Field Theories, JHEP 05 (2018) 132 [arXiv:1709.03850] [INSPIRE].
- [22] S.A. Bhatkar, A.P. Saha and B. Sahoo, Ward Identity and Electromagnetic Memory for Logarithmic Subleading Soft Photon Theorem in Asymptotically Flat Spacetime, in progress.